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THE CLERK: All rise.1

THE COURT: Please be seated.2

MR. RICHMAN: Good morning, Your Honor.3

THE COURT: Good morning.4

MR. RICHMAN: Michael Richman, Foley & Lardner with5

Michael Nestor of Young Conaway for the debtors.  We’re here6

this morning, Your Honor, on the continued hearing on the7

debtors’ motion for approval of an executive incentive8

program.  We did make efforts with both the Committee and the9

Trustee to try to resolve objections, potential objections,10

and regrettably were unsuccessful, and so, we’re going to go11

forward with the hearing today.  This is a very modest-sized12

executive incentive program.  It’s limited to a maximum13

amount of $656,000 for 20 people who break down into three14

general categories.  One are the very senior executives.  The15

second are the executive vice presidents, and the third and16

largest category are regional managers.  The program is being17

funded, if it’s approved, entirely by Guggenheim and is to be18

part of Guggenheim’s purchase price.  So if the program is19

not approved in whole or in part, there will not be one penny20

of benefit to unsecured creditors in the form of21

distributions.  There’s no agreement that savings from the22

incentive program would go into the wind-down budget if - the23

money that’s not spent from that program would go back to24

Guggenheim, and the important corollary is that - 25
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THE COURT: Well, but, to the extent it’s part of1

their bid, it’s a credit bid; correct?2

MR. RICHMAN: Well, this is cash that they are3

adding on top of the credit bid.  But, I was going -4

THE COURT: What effect would it have on their5

claim?  Their deficiency claim?  Does it go dollar for dollar6

to whatever their unsecured claim is, or -7

MR. RICHMAN: I’d have to check with Guggenheim and8

their counsel is here, maybe we can have a consultation while9

we’re on the record or during the hearing, but -10

THE COURT: Okay.11

MR. RICHMAN: As far as I’m aware it doesn’t affect12

the credit bid.  It’s an add-on on top of the credit bid, so13

to get to where I think Your Honor may be going, I do14

acknowledge, we do acknowledge that it would have some impact15

on competitive bidding in the sense that the amount that’s16

paid to the incentive program would be part of the bid price17

that somebody else has to get over.  So, there would be -18

THE COURT: But they’re funding it through19

additional cash not as part of the credit.20

MR. RICHMAN: That’s correct.  This is additional21

cash.  And, insofar as its affect on the auction process is22

concerned, my answer to that is the debtors’ business23

judgment, and this will be part of the proffers when we get24

to evidence is that the affect on bidding is believed to be25
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immaterial in the judgment of the debtors and its1

professional advisors in that city as compared especially to2

the enormous benefit of assuring that the top people who are3

responsible for, in a sense, having now a second job to do on4

top of the one that they signed on for, which is to assure5

the stability and enhancement of the value of the business6

either to deliver to Guggenheim or to enhance competitive7

bidding, all of which would redound to the benefit of all8

creditors in the estate is far more significant than any9

minimal impact that that amount would have in a competitive10

bid process.  What I’d like to do, Your Honor, is we prepared11

a chart.  In your discussions we had some early discussions12

with the United States Trustee and the Committee, and13

although we didn’t reach agreement with either the Trustee or14

the Committee, we did agree to make some changes to the15

program and in particular to what I would call the16

performance metrics of the program that we’re prepared to go17

forward on today even though we don’t have agreement with18

them, and we have a chart that shows pretty neatly in just19

two pages what our original proposal was and what the new20

proposal is that we’d like to go forward on, and with Your21

Honor’s permission, I would approach and hand that up, and22

we’d distribute it to parties in the courtroom.23

THE COURT: Okay.  Thank you.  The dollar amount has24

stayed the same.25
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MR. RICHMAN: The total dollar amount stays the1

same, and let me explain, because I think it’s important and2

it was part of one of the comments that Mr. Buchbinder made3

to us, so I want to clarify the record on this.  I want to4

explain how the $656,000 number was derived and how it’s to5

be paid because I think there’s an ambiguity on page 3 of the6

plan that we attached to the original motion in the paragraph7

on plan payments.  There’s a reference to how the payments8

are going to be made, and it states in our plan a percentage9

between 15 and 75 percent of annual compensation as10

determined by the debtors’ president, and Mr. Buchbinder11

said, Well, does that mean that Mr. Cogswell could just12

decide as to anybody whether they’re going to get 15 or 75 or13

something in between, and that isn’t what we meant, and it14

was just poor drafting on our part.15

THE COURT: Okay.16

MR. RICHMAN: The way it works is that, as I17

indicated to Your Honor, and by the way, I should say, I’m18

going as far as I feel I can go without disclosing19

confidences, but if Your Honor or the Committee or the20

Trustee - the Trustee has the information I’m about to refer21

to, the Trustee has received an identification of all of the22

employees and all of the amounts involved, and we would be23

happy to disclose that in camera but for a variety of reasons24

related to the ability to administer the program and maintain25
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morale, we don’t want to be specific about who would get what1

on the record.2

THE COURT: Right.3

MR. RICHMAN: But the way the program works, is that4

there are three defined classes of employees, as I just5

described a minute ago, and there is a fixed non-6

discretionary percentage for each.  One class has a fixed7

percentage of 15.  One class has a fixed percentage of 30,8

and one class has a fixed percentage of 75.  So there really9

is no discretion.  It’s just a question of doing the math as10

to where - Well, the discretion comes into making sure that11

you performed, and that you did the job.12

THE COURT: Right.13

MR. RICHMAN: But, as far as determining the14

payments that are made, there is none.  Now, another15

important clarification -16

THE COURT: That’s 15, 30, and 75 percent of base17

salary?18

MR. RICHMAN: Of base annual salary, and that comes19

to the next point of clarification, because it’s a fixed20

percentage of the base salary, it’s conceivable that not all21

of the 656 would ever get spent, assuming that all the22

performance criteria are hit because if people choose not to23

participate in this program or they leave the company -24

THE COURT: Right.25
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MR. RICHMAN:  - in which case they wouldn’t be1

eligible, then that money would never be reallocated and2

paid, it would just go back to Guggenheim under an escrow3

arrangement.4

THE COURT: All right.  Got it.5

MR. RICHMAN: So, those, I think, are the principal6

clarifications.  What I would suggest because in the nature7

of things, the Committee originally reserved rights to object8

but they never filed an objection so there wasn’t anything9

for us to reply to, and pretty much the same with the U.S.10

Trustee.  I would appreciate hearing their positions so that11

I understand what their arguments and concerns are, and then12

I would propose to, as Your Honor is very familiar with Mr.13

Cogswell and Mr. Victor, I would proffer their testimony and14

then make them available for cross-examination.15

THE COURT: All right.16

MR. CARROLL: Good morning, Your Honor.  John17

Carroll of Cozen O’Connor appearing on behalf of the18

Creditors Committee.  Your Honor, we did interpose a general19

objection and I guess if I had to summarize it, if one looks20

at the motion, they’ve indicated that the payments that are21

contemplated under this employee incentive plan are outside22

of the ordinary course and that 503(c)(3) is applicable, and,23

accordingly, they have a burden to show under the facts and24

circumstances of this case, of this case, that it’s25
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justified, that the incentive plan is justified.  We believe1

for a variety of reasons that they haven’t alleged2

sufficiently within the motion what those facts and3

circumstances are, and indeed, given the facts and4

circumstances of this case, that such an incentive plan is5

not warranted, and taking a step back, what are the facts and6

circumstances of this particular case?  Well, they’ve entered7

into the bankruptcy proceeding with a stalking horse bid in8

place.  That stalking horse bid contemplates a sale which is9

going to take place the first week of June.  The incentive10

plan seeks to incentivize folks for really doing absolutely11

nothing but the mere fact that the stalking horse deal occurs12

in June there’s an incentive for that.  Quite frankly, we13

think that’s an inappropriate incentive under the14

circumstances.  In terms of some of the other criteria that15

are also built into the plan, and we’d like to hear from the16

witness on these issues, but we also don’t think that the17

facts and circumstances that they are going to annunciate18

justify putting this plan in place.  That’s the thrust of the19

Committee’s objection.20

THE COURT: What’s your position on the standard21

under 503(c)(3)?  From the legal position it’s justified by22

the facts and circumstances the same as the business judgment23

standard that governs, generally speaking, use of property of24

the estate outside the ordinary course of business or is it a25
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heightened standard and if so, what is the nature of that1

heightened standard?2

MR. CARROLL: Your Honor, I believe it is a3

heightened standard, and I don’t believe it’s the same4

standard under 363.  Under 503(c)(3), that section is under5

the rubric of administrative claims, under 503, and I think6

it has to meet the criteria under 503(b) that it’s an actual7

and necessary expense.  So I think it’s a heightened standard8

that has to be hit, and it’s not merely the debtors’ business9

judgment.10

THE COURT: Well, that -11

MR. CARROLL: Otherwise it renders the provision to12

be identical to 363(b), which could not have been the import13

or the intent of the section.14

THE COURT: All right.  Okay.  Mr. Buchbinder?15

MR. BUCHBINDER: Good morning, Your Honor.16

THE COURT: Good morning.17

MR. BUCHBINDER: Dave Buchbinder on behalf of the18

United States Trustee.  The biggest reason why we did not19

file a written objection is because the information that we20

had requested from the debtors we actually did not receive21

until yesterday, but all the information we did request has22

been received and it has been analyzed.  Our biggest problem23

with this is that there is simply a lack of any sort of24

record to justify these requests.  Beyond that, the piece of25
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the program that simply involves being around when a sale is1

approved appears to be a retention program.  The part of the2

program that would pay a portion of the bonuses for simply3

being around when the plan is confirmed, also appears to be a4

retention program.  Those two pieces of the proposed program5

are troubling.  They need to have some sort of additional6

metric or metrics placed upon them to make those viable7

benchmarks to measure from.  With respect to the Guggenheim8

aspect of the issue that Mr. Richman -9

THE COURT: Let me stop you for a second.  To the10

extent elements are a retention plan, that would only be an11

impediment to insiders under 503(c)(1), so -12

MR. BUCHBINDER: That would be correct, Your Honor.13

THE COURT:  - that would be the senior executives14

and the executive VPs, but the regional managers would not be15

affected by that.16

MR. BUCHBINDER: I would agree with the Court to17

that extent, and outside of the debtor, I appear to be the18

only person who knows any of that information, and I would19

suggest that at some point we may need to take counsel up on20

their proposal for chambers or to place the information21

before the Court in some other way, but I would agree with22

the Court’s general assessment there.  Another aspect of this23

which is troubling is the Guggenheim aspect.  It’s part of24

their stalking horse bid, if you look at the sales procedure25
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motion and the sales motion.  So it’s part of the purchase1

price.  It’s an amount that a potential over-bidder would2

have to place into their calculations in making an overbid. 3

So, to that extent it has a potential effect to either chill4

or discourage bidding, and it creates another issue.  This5

money is being placed in escrow as part of the purchase6

price.  It’s not simply part of the estate’s property subject7

to Guggenheim’s cash collateral rights that Guggenheim is8

allowing the debtor to use for this purpose.  It’s a separate9

segregated fund, which as Mr. Richman points out, if it10

doesn’t get approved, Guggenheim gets to keep the money.  So11

it may be the fore-bid before an overbid goes down.  That12

creates another specter.  Who are the sales persons and the13

management of this debtor working for?  This program seems to14

make them directly beholden to Guggenheim to work in15

Guggenheim’s best interest to earn these bonuses as opposed16

to working in the debtors’ and the estate’s best interests,17

and that’s very troubling.  And so, it is for those reasons18

and for the lack of a record that we are concerned about this19

program.20

THE COURT: If the program is approved and the sale21

doesn’t close to Guggenheim or to any other bidder but the22

other criteria of the plan are met: cash receipts,23

distribution to unsecured creditors, and plan confirmation,24

what would the source of cash be, if any, to pay the plan?25
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MR. BUCHBINDER: That’s an interesting question,1

Your Honor.  I think we need to defer to debtors’ counsel,2

that’s an interesting scenario you raise.3

THE COURT: All right.  And if we, let me just, Mr.4

Buchbinder, if we, generally speaking - the corollary to5

that, I guess, would be if the case is - even if a sale6

closed and it turns out the case is administratively7

insolvent, would the money that’s been escrowed for the8

incentive plan be shared pro rata among all administrative9

creditors or would it only apply to the participants in the10

plan?11

MR. BUCHBINDER: That’s another question -12

THE COURT: You don’t know.13

MR. BUCHBINDER: - I have not contemplated the14

answer to, Your Honor.15

THE COURT: All right.16

MR. BUCHBINDER: It’s a quite interesting one as17

well.18

THE COURT: And what’s your position on 503(c)(3),19

justified by the facts and circumstances?20

MR. BUCHBINDER: Your Honor, our -21

THE COURT: Is Judge Walrath wrong?22

MR. BUCHBINDER: Our position on 503(c) is that we23

believe this standard is the heightened standard under 503(b)24

administrative expense jurisprudence, and that is our25
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position.1

THE COURT: So, actual and necessary.2

MR. BUCHBINDER: Yes.3

THE COURT: Well, we’ll talk about it later but that4

makes it, you know, the Committee’s argument is that if I say5

that 503(c)(3) really means business judgment standard under6

365, that would be duplicative of a standard that already7

exists.  If I say 503(c)(3) justified by the facts and8

circumstances really just means actual and necessary expenses9

under 503(b), that’s also duplicative.  So, you know, one way10

or the other Congress was duplicative and superfluous, not11

that we’re - Well, I won’t say anything else about that,12

except I’ll just point out that.  Unless I’m creating a new13

standard, I’ve got to adopt it from someplace else and absent14

specific reference to what standard I should use, it appears15

elsewhere in the Code no matter what, there’s some16

superfluous nature to the claim.  Now, it may be an argument,17

and it may be a very strong text-school argument that if I’m18

going to have to adopt a standard from somewhere it makes19

more sense to adopt it from the same section 503 than another20

section, 365.21

MR. RICHMAN: Not surprising -22

THE COURT:  We’re going to have some fun today. 23

It’s going to be good.24

MR. RICHMAN: Thanks, Your Honor.  Not surprisingly25
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we do think the business judgment standard is the one to1

apply as Judge Walrath held, but -2

THE COURT: Well, I don’t know about that because,3

you know, do you have to justify under the business judgment4

standard?  I mean, all you really have to do is show me that5

it’s the product of reasonable business judgment.  Is that a6

justification?7

MR. RICHMAN: Let me answer it this way: We are8

going to go beyond that, and I believe that even under a9

heightened standard Your Honor would find sufficient grounds10

to approve this.11

THE COURT: Okay.12

MR. RICHMAN: And that may moot that particular13

issue.14

THE COURT: And I’ve carefully tried to avoid having15

this for two years now, having to decide what the heck16

503(c)(3) means.  So, if we could continue that ducking of17

judicial responsibility, I would certainly appreciate it.18

MR. RICHMAN: Hopefully that will continue to be the19

case.20

THE COURT: All right.21

MR. RICHMAN: I wanted to respond also briefly on22

the last colloquy with Mr. Buchbinder before I proffer the23

testimony.  The last one, I think, is the easiest one. 24

Because this is being set up as an escrow, the attention is25
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that it not be property of the estate.  The estate would only1

have a 541 interest in its right to get money from that2

escrow in accordance with its terms, but otherwise it would3

be outside the estate.  So, if the plan were not - if the4

criteria were not met or if the estate became5

administratively insolvent, there would be no legal means to6

bring that money into the estate.7

THE COURT: All right.  And similarly, if the sale8

doesn’t close and there’s no other stalking horse bidder - or9

excuse me, no other bidder that is approved, the money never10

gets funded.11

MR. RICHMAN: Now, that’s something that I’d have to12

seek clarification from on Guggenheim because my belief, but13

I’m not trying to -14

THE COURT: That only happens if you decide somehow15

to perform - basically to do a standalone plan.  The facts16

and circumstances change.  The Guggenheim sale doesn’t close. 17

No other stalking - no other bidder’s sale closes, and the18

other criteria are met, i.e., cash receipts, distribution to19

unsecured creditors, and a plan.  Well, those three things20

only happen if (a) the business continues, which means you’d21

probably have to get replacement financing, and (b) you do a22

plan that pays something to unsecureds, and the only way to23

do that is through some sort of standalone plan, and that may24

be so counterfactual as to not be particularly relevant.25



17

MR. RICHMAN: It may be.  It’s also possible because1

I know there was discussion on it, that Guggenheim would fund2

the escrow now, notwithstanding that it hasn’t closed, but3

let’s assume that they don’t agree to do that.  Your Honor4

hits on another point which goes directly to the arguments5

that somehow it’s inappropriate to pay a portion of the pool6

for a closing of the sale to Guggenheim itself.  The fact of7

the matter is, that that’s not just a stay-around bonus. 8

Guggenheim could conceivably walk away from this deal if9

there is a significant deterioration in the way the business10

is run, and it’s vitally important to maintain the sanctity11

of the stalking horse bid not only for Guggenheim’s benefit12

but in order to bring about as much competitive bidding as13

possible.14

THE COURT: Well, we’ve dealt with this in Joan15

Fabrics.  I think Mr. Victor was in that case, and the issue16

there - He may not have been in that one, but anyway the17

issue there was, you know, are the people who are receiving18

the benefit of a incentive plan that results in a payment,19

say, just upon closing, have any ability to affect whether or20

not the closing occurs.  That’s the nexus that you’re going21

to have to establish, which is, you know, if people are22

getting paid - well, it’s only 10 percent, so if people are23

entitled to, you know - if 20 people are entitled to split24

$65,000, and it may not work to exactly that way given the25
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various - but, let’s just assume for purposes, you know, if1

20 people are entitled to split $65,000 for simply hanging2

around until the stalking horse bid closes but have no3

ability to affect whether that stalking horse bid closes or4

not, that’s a retention bonus.  I assume there’s a material5

adverse change clause in the APA that would be affected by6

poor performance by management.7

MR. RICHMAN: Well, but, this is part of how I was8

going to respond, Your Honor, because remember that this is a9

business that is very people and relationship intensive, and10

therefore, is very fragile and also very susceptible to the11

way human beings perform their jobs, and so, the fact is that12

while you may be able to pick a regional manager or an13

executive vice president, say, Well, that person isn’t really14

connected with the closing, the fact is that maintaining the15

morale and the high performance level of these people at a16

time of intense stress, they all know what’s going on.  They17

have no idea what their futures are going to bring.  They are18

trying to maintain the level of the business all across the19

country in the field.  That is important performance that20

does in fact relate directly to the value of the business and21

to the ability to close the sale with Guggenheim.  Your22

Honor, Mr. Victor would be our -23

THE COURT: Let me, just one last thing, I assume24

most of these people are going to go to Guggenheim on the25
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closing, certainly at the regional manager level.  I don’t1

know about senior management.  I don’t know about executive2

VPs, so that the question then becomes you’re rewarding them3

for actions that occur after they leave the company.  I guess4

once they leave the company, no matter for what reason, even5

if they - say they’ve gotten - Well, how does it work?  If6

the asset sale closes, do they immediately get paid the7

amount of money that’s related to the asset sale?  Or do you8

wait a certain amount of time until sort of everything plays9

out and then you get paid?10

MR. RICHMAN: We’re going to check now.  I believe11

that there is a relatively short period of time after the12

event when they would be entitled to be paid for the amount13

that they have earned through the achievement of the14

performance metric.15

THE COURT: And, I’m sorry, we’re getting ahead of16

ourselves, but -17

MR. RICHMAN: That’s okay.18

THE COURT: If you leave and you have already earned19

certain percentages, do you waive the percentages, the20

payments you’ve -21

MR. RICHMAN: I don’t -22

THE COURT:  - because you haven’t been paid yet?23

MR. RICHMAN: Yeah, the short answer -24

THE COURT: The sale closes, you leave the next day,25
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you haven’t been paid yet, do you still get your 10 percent?1

MR. RICHMAN: You should if you were leaving2

involuntarily.  If you leave voluntarily before - I think the3

way the plan is structured is as long as you were there4

through the event that you do get the payment.  We’re not5

going to not pay somebody if they leave a week after they’ve6

been there to get the job done to achieve the performance7

metric.  But let me answer your other question because -8

THE COURT: So, it’s being funded by the buyer so9

the most likely event is they leave because they’ve been10

offered alternative employment by the buyer.  It’s sort of11

neither here nor there.  I shouldn’t sweat it because it’s12

being funded by the buyer.13

MR. RICHMAN: It’s being funded by the buyer.  Let14

me - You asked about what we know about whether Guggenheim is15

going to take people or not, and I have to be very careful on16

how I answer that question because the truth is, we really17

don’t know.  We haven’t been told.18

THE COURT: All right.19

MR. RICHMAN: We would hope, I mean, we have said20

that we hope that - and we believe that Guggenheim would try21

to carry on the business in substantially the same form as it22

is today, but no one’s assured us of that, and of course, we23

don’t know what a competing bidder would have an interest in24

doing or not in that regard, and that’s part of the very25
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important reason why the performance bonus incentives are so1

critical here because we have, you know, the 20 people2

involved in the program, not to mention the other 1,6003

people in the field, really do not know today what their4

lives, what their employment is going to be like in two5

months.  They just don’t know, and we hope, of course, that6

every single person continues to be employed by whoever the7

successor entity is if we effectuate a sale, but there’s just8

no way of knowing that.9

THE COURT: Well, all right, let’s get into the10

facts because we could debate this endlessly.11

MR. RICHMAN: Well, I would just - and I appreciate12

- I would just make this one last comment on that.  There was13

no question that a performance incentive program has a14

retention component to it.  They all do.  They necessarily do15

because you need people to stay around to get the job done. 16

The key distinction here and the way we try to design it and17

in particular the way we tweaked it in response to concerns18

that were raised was to do as much as we would to assure that19

it wasn’t just for staying around but that it really involved20

performance and would only be paid if performance hit21

particular criteria.22

THE COURT: Right, and I’m on the record in the23

Nelson opinion as saying primarily, right or wrong, I’ve24

previously decided that issue is whether it’s primarily25



Victor - Direct 22

incentive or primarily retentive.  So, all right, let’s get1

to the facts.2

MR. RICHMAN: Your Honor, Mr. Victor would be our -3

THE COURT: Any objection to the use of proffers by4

the way?  If you have an objection, just let me know.5

MR. CARROLL: Your Honor, actually, the Committee6

would prefer to put the witnesses on instead of doing it by7

proffer.8

THE COURT: Very well.9

MR. BUCHBINDER: Dave Buchbinder, for the record. 10

For the record, Your Honor, we would have no objection to11

testimony by proffer.12

THE COURT: Okay.  Well, the Committee wants the13

witness on, so my practice is, unless everyone agrees to a14

proffer we have to go through direct.15

MR. RICHMAN: I’ll call Mr. Victor then.16

THE COURT: All right.17

THE CLERK: Please state your full name and spell18

your last name for the record.19

THE WITNESS: The initial J. Scott Victor, V-I-c-t-20

o-r.21

J. SCOTT VICTOR22

having been duly sworn testifies as follows:  23

DIRECT EXAMINATION24

BY MR. RICHMAN:25
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Q.  Good morning, Mr. Victor.  Would you remind us again of1

your position?2

A.  Yes, I’m senior managing director and co-head of Special3

Situations Group at National City Capital Markets Investment4

Banking.5

Q.  Did you play a - Oh, and what is your current position6

with respect to the debtors?7

A.  I’m the debtors’ investment banker.8

Q.  And you’ve been engaged in that capacity since when?9

A.  The beginning of March.10

Q.  Were you involved in the executive incentive program that11

was proposed to the Court?12

A.  Yes, I put it together.13

Q.  Could you describe what you did to put the program14

together.15

A.  Sure.  I looked at all the case law out of this district16

since October of 2005 and went through all the cases that had17

reported decisions on management incentive plans, executive18

incentive plans, what was approved in those decisions, what19

was not approved in some of the decisions, and I crafted this20

executive incentive plan based around the guidelines I got21

from the case law.22

Q.  Did you receive guidance from anyone at the company about23

the parameters of the incentive plan?24

A.  I did.  I spoke and met at length with Bill Cogswell, the25
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president of the company, and Rich Bunchalk, the CFO, to talk1

about who should be part of this incentive plan from the2

senior level to the senior VPs to the actual field managers3

and who would be appropriate, so, yes, I did.4

Q.  And were they involved in working with you to craft the5

plan?6

A.  Yes.7

Q.  Can you describe the different performance metric8

components of the plan?9

A.  Sure.  There are four basic metric components.  One is10

that the sale, as it’s currently structured, is one, metric. 11

As it was originally filed, I had proposed that 15 percent of12

the pot for this executive incentive program would go to13

those holders upon a sale to the stalking horse.  We have14

since revised that to put on even greater metrics so that15

that is only 10 percent of the pot.  I had originally16

designed that 15 percent of the pot would go to the17

participants if the stalking horse bid was bid.  Now that’s18

been increased to 20 percent.  So that’s the first metric. 19

The second metric is that the company lives within the20

parameters of the debtor-in-possession financing budget as21

has been approved by the Court and set forth in the budget22

with Guggenheim’s debtor-in-possession financing.  That23

accounts for 30 percent of the pot for the participants.  The24

next metric was to have a distribution to unsecured25
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creditors.  The way it was designed was that 10 percent of1

the pot would go to the participants if unsecured creditors2

received at least a $500,000 distribution and another 103

percent would be received by the participants if the4

unsecured creditors received a $1 million distribution or5

more.  And the final and fourth component to the - or metric6

to the EIP was for plan confirmation.  As I had originally7

drafted it, based upon case law, 20 percent of the pot would8

be used to pay the participants if a plan of reorganization9

was confirmed, with no time deadlines.  In order to put10

greater metrics on it, we came back today and proposed that11

that 20 percent of the pot would be used to pay the12

participants if the plan was confirmed by October 31st of this13

year and if not, then 10 percent of the pot would be paid if14

a plan was confirmed by December 31st of this year and nothing15

if there was plan confirmation thereafter.16

Q.  Mr. Victor, generally speaking, why is an incentive plan17

needed in this case?18

A.  Well, an incentive plan is needed in this case and in19

many cases to give incentive to management and its senior20

people who are needed to effectuate either a sale or21

restructuring or whatever the outcome of the Chapter 1122

proceeding is going to be.  These people are full time23

working for the company doing their everyday business of24

running the company.  When you file a Chapter 11 it becomes25
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more than a second full-time job, and we created this plan to1

incentivize them exactly along the lines of what would be in2

the interest of all the other constituents of the case, which3

would be a quick sale, a greater sale than what’s on the4

table right now, staying within the DIP budget, getting the5

plan confirmed, and the distributions to unsecured creditors. 6

So, all the metrics we proposed are in line with what all the7

other constituents in this case would want.8

Q.  So, now, bearing in mind that general observation, I’d9

like to walk you through each of the four components and ask10

how that fits into the general framework of the reasons for11

the plan that you just gave.12

A.  Uh-huh.13

Q.  For example, starting with the asset sales metrics where14

10 percent of the plan pool goes to the participants in the15

event that the Guggenheim deal closes and an additional 2016

percent if there is a higher priced bid at competitive17

auction.  How does that fit into the reasons for the overall18

incentive plan?19

A.  Well, given where the company was when it filed Chapter20

11 and its cash burn, which was the need for the incremental21

$7 million of DIP financing, it’s in the company’s best22

interest and all of its constituents’ best interest to have23

something done, a sale done as quickly as possible.  And so,24

we’re only giving 10 percent of the pot for the deal that’s25
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on the table and that deal, as I testified to last time, came1

together very quickly during the month of March and involved2

all of our time including all of those managers who are3

participants in the EIP, and it was a reward for that work4

that was done pre-petition and to incentivize then to get5

that deal done in the time frame that’s been committed to. 6

Twenty percent of that pot goes if there’s a higher and7

better offer, and a tremendous amount of time that I can’t8

even begin to describe to you is being done now with other9

potential buyers with due diligence.  It is a third full-time10

job that this management team has to do.  11

THE COURT: If Guggenheim is the winning bidder at a 12

higher level because there’s some competitive bidding, is the13

payment 10 or 20 percent?14

THE WITNESS: Twenty percent in my judgment.15

BY MR. RICHMAN:16

Q.  On top of the initial 10?17

A.  Yes.  It’s - The total percentage payout for that metric18

was 30 percent, and we’ve deemed it 10 percent for the19

existing stalking horse plus another 20 percent if the20

stalking horse bid is beat whether it’s by Guggenheim bidding21

it up or another party.22

Q.  So, just for complete clarity of record, if either23

Guggenheim or a competing bidder purchases the company at24

anything above the floor, the total bonus payout would be 3025
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percent of the pool; is that correct?1

A.  That’s correct.2

Q.  Now, how does the performance metric for the company’s3

financial performance cash receipts play into the overall4
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Q.  On the performance metric that ties percentages of the1

plan pool to distributions to unsecured creditors, how does2

that fit into the general need for an incentive program in3

this case?4

A.  Well, that puts the incentive of the management team and5

the participants in this pool directly in line with the6

interest of the unsecured creditors.  The greater the7

unsecured creditor recovery, the greater that the plan8

participants can recover.  Right now it’s set at 10 percent9

of plan pool for 500,000 recovery and 10 percent on $110

million recovery.11

Q.  And the last performance metric that you testified about12

was the confirmation of a Chapter 11 plan.  Could you also13

comment on how that fits into the overall need in this case14

for an incentive program?15

A.  Absolutely.  Again, it was part of several case law that16

I reviewed as a reasonable parameter to put into an executive17

incentive plan.  But more importantly, far too many cases in18

this district and in other districts end up in a 363 sale and19

then are converted to a Chapter 7, which doesn’t help anyone,20

and we put in an incentive for this management team to get a21

plan of reorganization done in an expedited time frame and22

that’s why we added this morning the additional metric of23

plan confirmation by October 31st of this year for 20 percent24

of that pot, and if not, 10 percent of the pot if we can do25
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plan confirmation by December 31st, but it’s in everyone’s1

best interest, unsecured creditors and all constituents to2

have a plan confirmed as opposed to a conversion and a3

liquidation under Chapter 7.4

Q.  Now, Mr. Victor, you testified before that you work5

closely with Mr. Cogswell and Mr. Bunchalk in determining who6

should be rewarded under the plan.7

A.  Yes.8

Q.  Without identifying names, can you be more specific about9

the responsibilities of the various people that will be10

involved and comment on how that ties into the overall goal11

of the program and purpose in this case?12

A.  Sure.  The groups fall within three main bodies.  One are13

the top executives who are running this company and have14

their hands involved in running the company, the sale15

process, the bankruptcy proceeding, additional diligence from16

other buyers, and really have three or four jobs going on17

simultaneously.  The second group are senior vice presidents18

who are in charge day-to-day with the running of the company,19

human relations, buyers, people in charge of suppliers,20

people in charge of the field of sales people.  So there’s21

about a half a dozen or so of those senior VPs that are22

actually administering the company on a day-to-day basis. 23

And the third and final group are the actual regional24

managers who are really in control of all the field reps in 25
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all the 217 retail locations around the country that are in1

charge of day-to-day sales and service to the customers.2

Q.  Do you know roughly how many employees are in each of the3

three groups?4

A.  I believe the largest group is the regional managers,5

that third group.  I believe that’s about ten or so.  I6

believe there’s six or so in the second group and two or7

three in that top group.8

Q.  In your experience as an investment banker, how many9

cases involving § 363 sales have you been involved in,10

roughly?11

A.  Over a hundred.12

Q.  Have you had experience with incentive programs like this13

in other cases?14

A.  Many times.15

Q.  Can you comment on the difference between cases that have16

a program like this and those that don’t?17

A.  This one I think is actually the best one I put together. 18

It controls - it has four different metrics, which I’ve never19

used before, usually only one or two metrics.  I was involved20

in putting together the very first plan that’s a reported21

decision by Judge Walrath, the Novacks case, and that only22

really had two components.  This had four and I thought this23

would really be a very good well-received executive incentive24

program, and I was very disappointed that we could not come25
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to terms with the Creditors Committee on this.1

Q.  Do you believe that the plan will reasonably achieve the2

performance metrics?3

A.  I do, I do, and there’s far from a guarantee like there4

is in any other cases that these metrics are all going to be5

met.  I think if the management team can achieve 70 percent6

of those metrics, it would be great, and there’s certainly no7

guaranty that a hundred percent of those metrics are going to8

be met.  That’s why it’s an incentive plan.9

Q.  In your experience, what is the consequence, what are10

some of the consequences to the debtors if the plan is not11

approved?12

A.  Well, there’s just disillusionment.  There’s13

disillusionment among the participants who are really running14

this company from the senior guys to the executive VPs to the15

managers out on the street all around the country.  It will16

be a great disappointment to them because they know about it,17

obviously, they’ve all been working very hard.  I think it18

will be very disheartening to them if they don’t get it.19

Q.  Do you have a view as to whether it would have an impact20

on the proposed sale process or plan process?21

A.  You know, that’s hard to say.  People have left the22

company from people inside in the headquarters in23

Pennsylvania to people out in the field.  People have already24

left the company to go to competitors.  So, anything you25
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don’t give the key people to keep the process and the company1

alive is a bad thing in a Chapter 11 sale process in my2

opinion.3

MR. RICHMAN: Excuse me one second.4

THE COURT: Mr. Victor, while we have a moment, the5

percentages for confirmation of a plan, they are not6

cumulative; is that correct?7

THE WITNESS: They are not cumulative.  If the plan8

is confirmed by confirmation order by October 31st then the9

participants get 20 percent.  If it’s confirmed by December10

31st, they only get 10 percent, and if it’s after December11

31st, they don’t get anything.12

THE COURT: Understood.13

MR. RICHMAN: I have no further questions at this14

time, Your Honor.15

THE COURT: Okay.  16

THE WITNESS: And just to answer another question,17

Your Honor, I was involved in Joan Fabrics, but I was not the18

designer of that VIP.19

THE COURT: Okay.  I’m sorry, Mr. Carroll, before20

you start cross-examining the witness.  Is there anyone here21

for Pylon International?  It’s going to be a short hearing?22

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: I believe so, Your Honor.23

THE COURT: All right, that’s scheduled for 11.  So24

let’s take a break.  Let me do Pylon and then you can come25
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back and cross-examine Mr. Victor, and obviously during the1

break you’re still under cross so you may not discuss the2

substance of your testimony with debtors’ counsel.  We’ll3

take a short break, hear Pylon, take another break and4

continue.  Is that acceptable?  All right.5

(Whereupon at 11:12 a.m., a recess was taken in the6

hearing in this matter.)7

(Whereupon at 11:25 a.m., the hearing in this8

matter reconvened and the following proceedings were had:)9

THE CLERK: All rise.10

THE COURT: Please be seated.  Mr. Carroll, you may11

proceed with cross.12

MR. CARROLL: Thank you, Your Honor.  Just as a13

preface, I should mention that I’ve been waiting for about 2514

years to cross-examine Mr. Victor.  He’s my former counsel15

from years ago, so I’ll try to be quick though.16

THE COURT:  See if you can make him cry.17

CROSS-EXAMINATION18

BY MR. CARROLL:19

Q.  Mr. Victor, the plan payments under the EIP plan, those20

are in addition to any other bonuses or incentive plans of21

the debtor; is that right?22

A.  That is correct.23

Q.  Okay.  And are there any such additional plans which24

would cover the plan participants?25
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A.  There are.  There’s just a general company-wide bonus1

plan that goes from the top all the way down to the bottom2

which is based on several factors at the store level,3

profitability at the store level, profitability in EBITDA4

levels, all the way up to the very top.  Based upon the5

current company-wide bonus plan, certainly there has been no6

financial performance that, based on my knowledge, is going7

to warrant a bonus to the senior people for this year, nor8

was there last year.9

Q.  Okay.  And the existence of those other bonus plans, was10

that disclosed at the time that this employee incentive plan11

approval was sought?12

A.  Disclosed to me?13

Q.  Disclosed in the motion.  Do you know?14

A.  I don’t know.15

Q.  All right.  Now, the debtor has a group of motivated and16

supportive employees; is that right?17

A.  They do.  It depends on the outcome of what happens here,18

but as of now, yes.19

Q.  Now, the employees have all been paid for their pre-20

petition wages; is that correct?21

A.  That’s correct.22

Q.  And they’ve been paid for their post-petition wages as23

well; correct?24

A.  That’s correct.25
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Q.  Okay.  And since the filing, the debtor’s been meeting1

its projections and its budgets; is that correct?2

A.  It has.  Sales are a little bit down, but yes, we are3

within the DIP budget.4

Q.  Okay.  5

MR. CARROLL: Your Honor, I’d like to have marked, I6

guess, as Committee 1.  It’s Exhibit 1 to the motion which is7

the executive incentive plan that I want to present to the8

witness, if I may.9

THE COURT: All right, any objection?10

MR. RICHMAN: No objection.11

THE COURT: All right, it’s so marked.  Thank you.12

BY MR. CARROLL:13

Q.  Mr. Victor, this is the employee incentive plan that14

we’ve been discussing here this morning; is that right?15

A.  Yes.16

Q.  Okay.  And that document which is marked - has the17

heading of Exhibit 1, that’s the controlling document with18

respect to the employee incentive plan; correct?19

A.  Except for the revisions that we made this morning, yes.20

Q.  Okay, but that’s the document that was sought to be21

approved by virtue of the pending motion; correct?22

A.  Yes, this was attached as an exhibit to the motion.23

Q.  Okay.  Now, to the best of your knowledge, did any of the24

plan participants refuse to perform without the employee25
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incentive plan?1

A.  No.2

Q.  Okay.  And to the best of your knowledge, did any of the3

plan participants insist on having an employee incentive4

plan?5

A.  Well, it was the strong desire by the senior executives6

to put this in place for the participants, but I am not aware7

of any participant demanding that this be put in place.8

Q.  Okay.  And if I understand your testimony, you formulated9

the employee incentive plan; is that correct?10

A.  I did.11

Q.  Okay.  Now, was the employee incentive plan approved by12

the Board of Directors of the debtor?13

A.  I don’t believe, to my knowledge, it went to the Board of14

Directors.  The last Board of Directors meeting that I was a15

participant in was just before the filing to authorize the16

filing and the hiring of professionals and to give the17

company and its executive management team the - I guess, the18

latitude in doing what needs to be done to bring this Chapter19

11 case to fruition.20

Q.  Now, with respect to Exhibit 1 that I presented to you,21

does the employee incentive plan identify in that document22

the amount of the plan pool?23

A.  I know it’s about $656,000 and I’ll look through it right24

now with you.  25
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Q.  It’s not really a trick.  I don’t believe it’s mentioned1

within the employee incentive plan.2

A.  I don’t see it at first glance.3

Q.  Okay.  Do you have an explanation for why the plan pool4

amount is recited in paragraph (26) of the motion at $656,0005

versus the APA from Guggenheim which reflects it at 670,000?6

A.  No.7

Q.  Okay.8

A.  Other than it may have included one or two more people9

which by the time we actually filed the EIP motion it was10

after the APA was filed, so we finalized it after the APA was11

final.12

Q.  Okay.  Is it your understanding that the correct amount13

is 656,000?14

A.  It actually may be lower because I believe there’s 2015

participants now rather than 21 so it actually may be lower16

than that.17

Q.  Okay.  Now the plan participants, they would include18

insiders; correct?19

A.  Well, it includes the two senior executives who are20

running this company, the CEO and the CFO.  I don’t think I21

personally would call the executive VPs insiders.  That’s22

their title with the company.  I don’t know if they’re actual23

officers of the corporation.  They’re certainly not in charge24

of running the company nor do they sit on the Board.  So I25
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don’t know if I would call them insiders.  I would call the1

CEO and the CFO insiders, yes.2

Q.  Now, the bankruptcy schedules and statement of financial3

affairs for the debtor, they should identify who the4

directors and officers are; correct?5

A.  Yes, and I believe they’ve being filed at the end of this6

month.7

Q.  But they have not yet been filed; correct?8

A.  No.9

Q.  So, those individuals haven’t been identified at least a10

public record.11

A.  Other than the president, Mr. Cogswell, and the CFO, Mr.12

Bunchalk, who I deal with all day every day, that’s it.13

Q.  Now, under the terms of the modified employee incentive14

plan, I believe it was your testimony that 10 percent of the15

plan pool, if there’s a sale to the stalking horse at the16

floor price, would be payable; is that correct?17

A.  That’s correct.18

Q.  Okay.  The stalking horse agreement has been negotiated19

and it’s already in place; correct?20

A.  That’s what we spent the last two weeks of March doing,21

yes.22

Q.  Okay.  So in followup, the stalking horse agreement was23

executed - negotiated and executed on a pre-petition basis;24

correct?25
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A.  Yes.  As was this plan put together on a pre-petition1

basis.2

Q.  Now with respect to the stalking horse agreement, there’s3

really nothing left to be done except to continue to perform4

jobs and get to closing; is that right?5

A.  And live within the DIP budget and not have a material6

adverse change in the business, yes.7

Q.  Okay.  But those additional requirements that you just8

mentioned, those are present in every Chapter 11 case; is9

that right?10

A.  They are.11

Q.  So in other words, they’re not peculiar to the facts and12

circumstances of this individual case?13

A.  No, but we felt it appropriate especially with the14

revisions that we made this morning to take the plan pool pot15

on the stalking horse bid down from 15 to 10 and to increase16

an overbid pot from 15 to 20 to give management and the17

participants of the EIP even more incentive to try to get an18

overbid.19

Q.  Now, also, it’s my understanding under the modified20

employee incentive plan that was announced this morning that21

there would be an additional 20 percent if the sale goes to a22

competitive bidder and there’s an overbid situation; is that23

correct?24

A.  That’s correct.25
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Q.  Okay.  Now, Nat City is the investment banker and you’re1

handling the sale process; correct?2

A.  Yes.3

Q.  Okay.  And Nat City established the data room; correct? 4

For the sale transaction?5

A.  We have.6

Q.  Okay.  And was that done pre-petition or post-petition?7

A.  Both, actually.  We have several data rooms set up for8

various constituents here.  There was a data room that was9

set up pre-petition that continues to be added to and there’s10

a strategic data room that was set up post-petition that11

continues to be added to.12

Q.  And the debtors’ professionals are handling the obtaining13

of the confidentiality agreements and providing access to the14

due diligence; is that correct?15

A.  Yes and no.  We are getting access to the data rooms for16

the various parties through the company and through some of17

the people that are participants in this and some of those18

people are also responsible for putting the additional data19

that literally goes on day to day in the different data rooms20

on.  So the information that’s actually being put in the data21

rooms is coming in from the people of the company after we22

review it and go through it with management.23

Q.  That data that you’re referring to, that would be data24

that they would maintain in the ordinary course of their25
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operations though; correct?1

A.  No.  There is a tremendous amount of data that various2

potential bidders have asked for that the company’s3

management and the participants in the EIP have to put4

together as completely separate analyses that they would not5

keep in the ordinary course of business.6

Q.  And how many of the plan participants are involved in7

that process of gathering that data?8

A.  The senior managers and the executive VPs. 9

Q.  All of them.10

A.  All of them.11

Q.  Now the plan participants, they know you’re trying to12

sell as a operating business; correct?13

A.  Yes.14

Q.  And have they been told that there’s an increased15

likelihood of continued employment if the assets are sold to16

Guggenheim?17

A.  Not to my knowledge, no.18

Q.  You have not told them that.19

A.  No.20

Q.  Now the payments under the employee incentive plan, those21

are discretionary payments; is that right?22

A.  Well, they’re discretionary only to the extent that the23

metrics have to have been met, but to the extent that the24

metrics are met, then it’s not discretionary, then the25
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company will upon Court approval, of course, pay those1

participants as each metric is met.  There’s nothing2

discretionary as to whether anyone feels they should be paid3

or not.  If the metric is met, they will be paid.4

Q.  Let me focus your attention on page 3 of Exhibit 1 for5

plan payments.  It’s under the heading of Plan Payments.  It6

indicates each plan participant shall be paid his or her pro-7

rata share and in the parenthetical, a percentage between 158

and 75 percent of the annual compensation as determined by9

the debtors’ president.  What’s to be determined?10

A.  In my mind, nothing.  If the metrics are met, the11

participants get paid.12

Q.  So it’s your understanding that that provision merely13

refers to the president looking at a list and saying, You’re14

designated for 15 percent, you’re here and so you receive it.15

A.  Exactly.  Not that you’re here, that the metric has been16

met.17

Q.  I want to turn for a moment to the cash receipts metric. 18

I believe you’ve indicated that 30 percent of the plan pool19

gets paid if cash receipts are within 15 percent of the DIP20

budget cash receipts projections; right?21

A.  Yes, that’s the second metric.22

Q.  Okay.  And that’s for the life of the DIP facility;23

right?24

A.  Yes.25
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Q.  Okay.  And that life of the DIP facility ends with the1

sale; is that correct?2

A.  Correct.3

Q.  Okay.  So, entitlement to the cash receipts payment would4

also be upon the sale; is that right?5

A.  If they stay within the DIP budget.6

Q.  Correct.  7

A.  If they don’t, then it’s not.   So you could very easily8

have a scenario where the DIP budget is not met and they9

don’t get this metrics, but the sale happens and they do get10

that metrics.11

Q.  Okay.  But they would need to be within the DIP budget in12

order to avoid a default under the DIP; correct?13

A.  Yes, but not necessarily default under the APA.14

Q.  If you’re in default under the DIP agreement -15

A.  Uh-huh.16

Q.  - you’re no longer in a position to operate; correct?17

A.  No, you can’t be that black and white on it.  If you’re18

under default of the DIP agreement, it depends on how much in19

default of the DIP agreement and whether Guggenheim’s willing20

to provide any incremental funding that’s necessary to get to21

a sale.  Don’t know.22

Q.  Okay.  The likelihood is that upon the sale, assuming23

that they meet the cash receipts metric, the actual payout24

under the plan is going to be 60 percent of the plan pool; is25
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that right?  Thirty percent under the asset sale component1

and 30 percent under the cash receipts component.2

A.  No.3

Q.  Am I reading that wrong?4

A.  You are reading that wrong.  Only 10 percent of the sale5

component metrics would go to the stalking - as a result of6

the stalking horse bid without a higher bid and 30 percent7

would go on the cash receipts.  So 40 percent would go on the8

stalking horse not 60.9

Q.  You’re correct, I misspoke.  Have any of the plan10

participants threatened to leave, to the best of your11

knowledge, if they don’t get the incentive payment?12

A.  Not to my knowledge.13

Q.  Okay.  Now, in calculating the cash receipts projections,14

I’m assuming that you factored into the cash receipts the15

impact of a bankruptcy filing; right?16

A.  Yes.  With respect to what we projected a decline in17

sales to be in the initial period after the filing, yes.18

Q.  Okay.19

A.  Not as much as we had wanted to, but we did.20

Q.  Okay, and then in also calculating the projections for21

the cash receipts you knew that a failure to hit the DIP22

budget projections would result in a default; correct?23

A.  Of the DIP?24

Q.  Yeah.25
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A.  Oh, absolutely.1

Q.  Okay.  So you also attempted to build in a cushion to2

insure that you didn’t trip the DIP default as well, is that3

right?4

Q.  Well, we attempted to build in a much bigger cushion.  5

We attempted to build in a 13 percent decline in sales6

cushion and all we could build in was a 6 percent decline7

based upon what we thought would happen as a result of the8

filing.  So, I tried to build in a significantly higher9

leeway in the DIP budget and was unsuccessful as a result of10

negotiations with Guggenheim.11

Q.  Okay.  And in addition to those efforts, you also did12

manage to get a 15 percent variance with respect to the cash13

receipts; correct?14

A.  Yes.15

Q.  Okay.  So, in your opinion, are the cash receipts readily16

achievable, the projected cash receipts?17

A.  It’s actually, surprisingly close right now,18

unfortunately on where we are with the decline in sales. 19

It’s more close than I had hoped it to be.20

Q.  I think my question was, the cash receipts are readily21

achievable as projected; correct?22

A.  We’re running a little bit behind projections, so, I’m23

not going to use the word “readily”.24

Q.  All right.  Turning to the unsecured distribution25
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contribution, as it presently stands, I believe it’s 101

percent of the plan pool would be distributed to the extent2

there’s a distribution to unsecured creditors that exceeds3

500,000; is that right?4

A.  Yes, in the aggregate, yes.5

Q.  And then there’s an additional 10 percent of the plan6

pool to the extent that that distribution would exceed one7

million; is that right?8

A.  In the aggregate, yes.9

Q.  Okay.  Now, the plan participants don’t have any control10

over what distributions get watered down as part of the11

Chapter 11 plan process; do they?12

A.  Well, they do.  They certainly to the extent that there’s13

a higher and better bid than the stalking horse bid of14

Guggenheim which is where all of our time right now, except15

today, is being spent dealing with due diligence requests16

from other buyers, and in fact, we’re not at a buyer meeting17

now because we’re in court.  So, to the extent that there’s a18

higher and better bid over the stalking horse bid, yes, then19

certainly there’s going to be a greater distribution to20

unsecured creditors.  Similarly, if the case goes to a plan21

confirmation quickly, and even though we’re not talking about22

that metrics, but if it can go to a plan confirmation quickly23

after the sale, that, hopefully, is going to decrease the24

need for a significant amount of professional fees, which25
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will leave more money available for unsecured creditors.  So1

that’s how all these metrics were tied together.2

Q.  Under the current stalking horse APA, there is already3

built into that stalking horse APA an amount which has been4

represented to be available for unsecured creditors; is that5

right?6

A.  That’s correct.  That’s part of the wind-down budget,7

$1.5 million.8

Q.  Of which, depending upon what the actual amount of the9

employee incentive plan whether it’s the 656 or the 670,10

assuming it’s the 656, then there’s $844,000 approximately11

available for that wind-down for the unsecured creditors; is12

that right?13

A.  That’s correct.14

Q.  Okay.  So, hasn’t the initial metric already been met for15

a $500,000 distribution or available funds for unsecured?16

A.  Well, I wish that were the case, but the way it’s17

written, no, because this metric describes actual18

distributions to general unsecured creditors and does not19

take into account what professional fees could be taken out20

of that remaining $850,000.  So, no, not necessarily.  I wish21

I had written it differently, and the next time I will, but I22

didn’t.23

Q.  The exhibit that I’ve presented to you, that form of the24

plan, that did not have any deadline associated with your25
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last metrics which was the plan confirmation contribution; is1

that right?2

A.  No, as it was originally filed, I proposed 20 percent of3

the plan pool upon plan confirmation which I personally4

thought was a good metrics because it would dissuade the5

quick and easy way out which has gone on too often by just6

converting the case to a Chapter 7.  So, that’s why I built7

it in without any deadlines in order to give both the8

Committee and the U.S. Trustee’s Office greater metrics to9

measure, we added in the dates.10

Q.  Okay.  Now the debtors’ professionals though, they are11

generally responsible for the drafting of the plan and12

proceeding with confirmation; is that right?13

A.  In the ordinary course I would say yes, but Mr. Cogswell14

has shown an uncanny ability to be involved in just about15

everything that goes on in this case.  So, I would say he16

will be greatly involved in the plan process.17

Q.  He’s only one of the plan participants.  I haven’t seen a18

list, but I’m assuming he’s a plan participant?19

A.  He is a plan participant, yes.20

Q.  I’d like to focus your attention on page 3 again of21

Exhibit 1, and this is something that the Court touched upon22

at the outset, but it’s the termination of employment23

provision.  My reading of this provision is that unless an24

employee resigns, they are entitled to receive whatever25
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they’re entitled to under the employee incentive plan.  Is1

that correct?2

A.  If an employee is terminated for cause, they would not be3

entitled to participate.  If an employee leaves by their own4

accord, they would not be entitled to participate.  So that’s5

the way I read it.6

Q.  Okay.  So, assuming that we do a sale in early June and7

assuming that employees resign in order to go work for the8

purchaser, there will be some remaining plan participants9

with the debtor; is that right?10

A.  I don’t know how that’s going to play out.  I don’t know11

if the employees who are the participants in the EIP are12

going, number one, I don’t know if they’re going to go work13

for whoever the buyer is.  It greatly depends on who the14

buyer is for a whole lot of these people, number one.  But if15

they do resign from the debtor to go work for the buyer - I16

hadn’t thought that out.  Theoretically, they should be17

entitled to each metric as it comes due.  Theoretically, if18

they’re working for the buyer, because everyone’s still19

trying to get the plan done, the distributions to unsecured20

creditors, so if they leave to go work for the buyer under21

the sale, in my mind it wouldn’t be right to terminate them22

under this EIP plan.  If they leave to go wherever or go work23

for a competitor, then they should not participate in the EIP24

plan.25
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Q.  Suppose a different scenario, suppose they don’t go with1

another buyer but they’re not continuing to work for the2

debtor.  They haven’t resigned, they’re just not doing any3

work for the debtor.  The debtor doesn’t need them anymore4

because arguably the business has been sold; correct?  So5

they won’t need all these plan participants.6

A.  Well, there’s only 20 of them.  It’s not hundreds and7

hundreds out of a 1,600 employee company.  But to answer your8

question, if they’re there, if they are working for the9

debtor or if they are working for the successor to the10

debtor, the buyer of the debtor, and they are doing their11

function to continue to see that these four metrics are12

complied with, they should be, in my opinion, entitled to13

participation.14

Q.  My question is, if they’re not working for the debtor15

because the debtor is no longer engaged in ongoing operations16

-17

A.  Uh-huh.18

Q.  - are they still entitled as a plan participant to19

receive incentives?20

A.  Who are they working for?21

Q.  No one.  They haven’t been terminated for cause.22

A.  Correct.23

Q.  Suppose they’ve just been terminated?24

A.  I believe if they’ve just been terminated by a potential25
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buyer after the sale, it’s hard, even though I would like to,1

it’s hard for me to argue that they should get the remaining2

metrics that would take place after that fact, but if they3

are still employed, they should.4

Q.  In paragraph (44) of the actual motion, which I know you5

don’t have before you, it references a servicing sale, that6

there’s a need to have this employee incentive plan in order7

to effectuate a servicing sale.  There’s no servicing sale in8

connection with this transaction, there’s just the asset9

sale; is that correct?10

A.  I’m not sure what was meant by “servicing sale”. 11

Servicing of what -12

Q.  My thought is it may have been a holdover from another13

motion, but there’s no servicing being transferred; is that14

right?15

A.  There are assets being transferred, and there’s servicing16

of customers and there are sales that obviously will be17

transferred and ongoing relationships, but I’m not sure what18

servicing means in that paragraph.19

Q.  To ask it a different question, is it contemplated that20

there’s going to be an asset sale and some sort of separate21

sale of servicing?22

A.  Not to my knowledge.23

Q.  Okay.  Now, as I understand the employee incentive plan24

it’s being funded by Guggenheim who is the stalking horse;25
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correct?1

A.  Yes.2

Q.  Okay.  Now, in connection with that, Guggenheim, I3

assume, desires to be determined as a good-faith purchaser;4

is that right?5

A.  Yes.6

Q.  Okay.  Is there any concern that because the employees7

will be beholden to Guggenheim for the payments under the8

incentive plan, that it destroys the good-faith nature of9

Guggenheim’s acquisition?10

A.  No, not at all.  I was the one that personally approached11

Guggenheim along with counsel and asked them to have this12

executive incentive plan be part of the wind-down budget and13

to do the mechanism exactly as we have done it.  So, I don’t14

see how in any way, shape, or form management is beholden to15

Guggenheim.  16

Q.  What happens in the event that an asset sale does not17

take place?  What happens to the employee incentive plan?18

A.  Well, if there is some sort of alternative to do a19

consensual restructuring, which I’ve been advocating for some20

time now, we would come back to the Court with a revision to21

the executive incentive plan because this really wouldn’t be22

applicable anymore.23

Q.  In the event that there was no standalone plan and there24

was no sale so the case converted, would the obligations25
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under the employee incentive plan be an administrative claim1

under 503?2

A.  It’s structured that it’s not coming from property of the3

estate.  It’s coming directly from property from an4

additional advance by Guggenheim as part of a wind-down5

budget.  That in and of itself is part of the asset purchase6

agreement which contemplates a sale.  So, I think that if7

this case were converted prior to a sale or a standalone8

plan, I think there’s a whole lot of changes that would have9

to be made, and I can’t imagine this would be valid.10

Q.  But whose obligation would it be?  It’s the debtors’11

obligation under the employee incentive plan; isn’t it?12

A.  But there’s no cash to pay it.13

Q.  Correct.14

A.  Because it’s being funded as part of a wind-down budget15

under a 363 sale scenario.  So -16

Q.  So, have you created an administrative claim for the plan17

participants which would come ahead of the general unsecured18

creditors?19

A.  I don’t think so.  I think you can draft around that20

problem in the order.21

Q.  But as presently proposed, it doesn’t contain that; is22

that right?23

A.  It doesn’t contain - it doesn’t really contain one way or24

the other.  I mean, there’s only one way for this EIP to be25
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paid and that’s from that wind-down budget.  If that doesn’t1

happen and there’s a conversion, then I can’t see how this2

would be an administrative claim ahead of the unsecured3

creditors.4

MR. CARROLL: I have no other questions at this5

time, Your Honor.6

THE COURT: Okay.  Mr. Buchbinder?7

CROSS-EXAMINATION8

BY MR. BUCHBINDER:9

Q.  Good morning, Mr. Victor.  It is still morning, according10

to the clock.  Mr. Victor, did I understand the plan in your11

testimony correctly that the top management tier would12

receive up to 75 percent of their annual salary in this plan?13

A.  Yes.14

Q.  That’s more than 25 percent; correct?15

A.  Yes.16

Q.  Now, with respect to the sales portion of this plan, all17

that the senior management person or the - all that anyone18

has to do is be there at the close of sale; correct?19

A.  No.20

Q.  What do they have to do beyond their normal duties to21

earn a bonus at the close of sale?22

A.  They are involved in just about everything imaginable in23

this case at the senior level.  Most of the time now is being24

spent on diligence from other buyers, but as long as the25
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company performs under the DIP and there’s no default and1

there’s no default of the APA due to a material adverse2

change, then, yes, I have 10 percent of the bonus pool going3

to the participants as a result of the stalking horse bid.4

Q.  And all they have to do is be there when the sale closes;5

correct?6

A.  Again, it’s a definition of what being there means. 7

These guys are working as hard as any management team I have8

ever seen.9

Q.  Well, let’s take a look again at Committee’s Exhibit 1,10

page 3, the paragraph entitled “Termination of Employment”. 11

Mr. Carroll mentioned part of it.  Could you read for us the12

entire second sentence of the paragraph called “Termination13

of Employment”?14

A.  “Plan payments shall be made to each entitled plan15

participant in accordance with the terms of the plan, even if16

such plan participant is not employed by the debtors at the17

time of a plan payment is to be made unless the plan18

participant retires, dies, voluntarily resigns, or is19

terminated for cause in which case the plan participant shall20

not be entitled to any plan payments after the termination of21

his or her employment.”22

Q.  Okay.  Mr. Victor, you have a lot of experience in this23

business; don’t you?24

A.   I do.25
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Q.  Can you tell me how a person could not be employed by the1

debtor other than by retiring, dying, voluntarily resigning,2

or being terminated for cause?3

A.  How they could not be employed by the debtor?4

Q.  Tell me what other ways besides these four someone could5

not be employed by the debtor at the close of the sale or at6

any other triggering event.7

A.  In addition to what’s listed.8

Q.  Yeah, how else would they not be there?9

A.  The only other way is what I talked about with Mr.10

Carroll which is that upon a sale, these employees go to the11

buyer.  So, they’re not - they haven’t done any of the things12

that are listed, but they’re not in the employ of the debtor.13

Q.  So, an employee who is in the plan as it is written, if a14

sale closes and they go work for the buyer -15

A.  Uh-huh.16

Q.  - in your scenario -17

A.  Uh-huh.18

Q.  - and later a plan is confirmed, they’re entitled to that19

part of the bonus?20

A.  They’re entitled to whatever matrixes have been met, yes. 21

Even if they’re working for the buyer, absolutely.22

Q.  Now, isn’t it also correct that the amount of money in23

this plan is factored in as part of the purchase price that24

an over-bidder must concern themselves with?25
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A.  It’s factored into the wind-down budget which is part of1

the APA purposely, so, yes, an over-bidder does have to cover2

this if it’s approved as part of a qualified over-bid.3

Q.  Isn’t it also possible that some portions of this plan4

for various persons may not become payable?5

A.  Yes.6

Q.  And so it’s possible that the amount paid out, if this7

plan is approved as proposed, would - it’s possible that not8

all the money would have to be paid out; correct?9

A.  Oh, I think that’s more than likely.10

Q.  So, how does a buyer who wants to make an overbid factor11

that uncertainty into their overbid?12

A.  It’s very simple.  They just have to include in their13

overbid exactly where Guggenheim is, including the million14

and a half wind-down budget.  That’s the way we set it up15

purposely.16

Q.  Do you know -17

THE COURT: I’m sorry.  Who gets the benefit of it18

coming in below target?  The buyer or the debtor?  Who gets19

the benefit of not meeting that - if this is a line item in20

the wind-down budget for $650 -21

THE WITNESS: The buyer, the buyer gets the benefit.22

THE COURT: The buyer gets the benefit.23

THE WITNESS: Yeah.24

BY MR. BUCHBINDER:25
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Q.  Are you aware if any of the officers - and for purposes1

of this question, I’ll define “officers” as both your Group A2

senior management and both your Group B, the senior vice3

presidents, are you aware of any of the persons in those two4

groups have had offers made to them to work in other places5

since the filing of the case?6

A.  I don’t know.7

Q.  Would you also agree that 30 percent of an annual salary8

is greater than 25 percent of an annual salary?9

A.  I would.10

Q.  Would you also agree that 75 percent of an annual salary11

is greater than 25 percent of an annual salary?12

A.  I would.13

MR. BUCHBINDER: I have no further questions, Your14

Honor.15

THE COURT: Redirect?16

REDIRECT EXAMINATION17

BY MR. RICHMAN:18

Q.  Mr. Victor, let’s assume, based on the collogues earlier19

that the time that Guggenheim funds the escrow is upon the20

closing of the sale or contemporaneous with the bidding.  If21

the Chapter 11 case is converted to a Chapter 7 prior to the22

sale, can any performance metrics be met?23

A.  Prior to a sale?24

Q.  Let me ask you a different question.  When is the - the25
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first performance metric relates to the sales receipts;1

correct?2

A.  It does, but it’s simultaneous with living under the DIP3

budget so -4

Q.  When does it get measured?5

A.  It gets measured at the time of the end of the DIP which6

is the time of the sale.7

Q.  So if the case converts before you get to the end of the8

DIP can anybody meet that performance metric?9

A.  No.10

Q.  And if the case gets converted before the sale, can the11

sale take place?12

A.  No.  Only if the Trustee wants to proceed somehow and the13

buyer still wants to proceed.14

Q.  So, would you agree with me that there is no conceivable15

circumstance in which any plan participant could have an16

administrative claim for the payment of a benefit under this17

plan in the event that there’s a conversion?18

A.  Before a sale, I agree with that.19

Q.  And if there’s a conversion after a sale, will there be20

money funded in an escrow account from Guggenheim or another21

bidder in order to pay any claims that arise from achievement22

of the performance metrics?23

A.  Yes, that’s why we set it up as part of the wind-down24

budget, and the particular EIP payments are in escrow, so the25
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answer is yes.1

Q.  In terms of the language that Mr. Buchbinder took you2

through in terms of all the circumstances in which somebody3

could not be employed any longer -4

A.  Uh-huh.5

Q.  - could you take a look at that sentence again and tell6

me whether there’s anything in there that would describe a7

layoff or reduction in force?8

A.  That is not included.  I don’t see layoff or reduction in9

force.10

Q.  So, if a purchaser decided that there were a number of11

employees covered by the program that it didn’t want to carry12

on, that wouldn’t be part of the exclusionary terminations13

that is covered there; is it?14

A.  No.15

Q.  That would be a termination without cause.16

A.  That would be a termination without cause.17

Q.  So those employees would still be eligible to receive18

benefits if they had earned them during the performance19

metric period; correct?20

A.  Yes, that’s true.21

Q.  You referred in some of the testimony in response to the22

questions from Mr. Carroll to buyer meetings and diligence.23

A.  Uh-huh.24

Q.  Without identifying any of the buyers, approximately how25
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many buyer meetings have taken place so far?1

A.  Three.2

Q.  And have any of those, again without identifying the3

bidders, have any of those potential buyers gone beyond just4

looking at the data room in terms of their involvement in the5

sale process or diligence?6

A.  All have gone well beyond the data room.7

Q.  Let’s just for the record call them A, B, and C.  Who was8

the first one to have a buyer meeting - Well, let’s say the9

first one to have a buyer meeting was A.10

A.  Okay.11

Q.  All right.  What has A done beyond getting into the data12

room?13

A.  They had a meeting with management, and they have14

requested substantial additional diligence beyond what’s in15

the data room including analyses which has to be put together16

which is not kept in the ordinary course of business.17

Q.  Okay.  Please be more specific about the substantial18

additional diligence.  What are we talking about?19

A.  It depends on whether we’re talking about buyer A, B, or20

C.21

Q.  Well, let’s start with A.  I want to ask you about each22

one.23

A.  Okay.  Buyer A has given us a list of 20 or 30 other24

diligence items that they have requested including analyses25
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that are not part of the data room that are not kept in the1

ordinary course of business that management’s been put2

together and continues to put together.3

Q.  How many people in management are involved with having to4

respond to those additional diligence requests?5

A.  The senior people and those senior VPs.  6

Q.  Do you have a feel for how much of their time is involved7

in responding to just the request of A?8

A.  Just with A, no, but all three of them a tremendous9

amount of time.  I mean, it’s a full-time job dealing with10

these diligence requests for all of us, not just me, but11

counsel and the company.12

Q.  Well, let’s try to be a little more specific.  What do13

you mean when you say “a lot of time” in a ten-hour day, how14

much time do you think these senior management and the senior15

vice presidents are involved in responding to diligence16

requests of all three of the bidders?17

A.  Easily, easily a third to half the day during the past18

two weeks have been spent on diligence items.19

Q.  Now, has bidder A done anything further in diligence that20

would involved Diamond Glass employees covered by the plan21

apart from these additional diligence requests?22

A.  I don’t follow the question.  Repeat it, please.23

Q.  Is there other diligence work going on that affects other24

people in the company?25
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A.  Oh, absolutely.  It affects a tremendous amount of people1

beyond the group that’s in the plan participants.2

Q.  Again, without - I’m trying not to identify the bidders,3

can you try to be more specific about what’s going on.  Let’s4

make it easy.  Talk about all three of the bidders and what5

is involved for the plan participants in responding to the6

diligence responses and the other activities.7

MR. BUCHBINDER: Objection, Your Honor.  I think8

we’re far beyond the scope of the cross and the recross.9

MR. RICHMAN: Oh, no, no, sir.  Mr. Carroll asked a10

number of questions that went to what was being done with the11

diligence process, specifically asking and questioning12

whether that actually involved anybody beyond that city.13

THE COURT: Right, overruled.14

THE WITNESS: With respect to all three, one in15

particular, literally hundreds of diligence items well beyond16

what’s in the data room.  Management meeting has taken place. 17

Diligence is going on at all 217 locations that is involving18

everybody from store employees in Texas to all over the19

country to very high level accounting diligence, to legal20

diligence for all three.  It’s taking a tremendous amount of21

time.  I don’t want to be much more precise if I don’t have22

to in terms of what’s been specifically asked and put23

together, but let’s put it this way, these additional24

diligence items are breaking the company down in various25
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parts in doing analyses of cost per goods, doing analysis of1

the profitability per customer contract.  It’s gone all the2

way down to the very tiniest degree of diligence by these3

buyers.4

BY MR. RICHMAN:5

Q.  Okay.   And -6

A.  And it’s been overwhelming, quite frankly.7

Q.  And would you say it’s involved everybody who’s a plan8

participant in some substantial amount of their time?9

A.  Yes, and well beyond that.10

Q.  Okay.  11

MR. RICHMAN: That’s all that I have, Your Honor.12

THE COURT: Okay.  Thank you, Mr Victor.  You may13

step down.14

MR. RICHMAN: I call Mr. Cogswell.15

THE COURT: Okay.  16

THE CLERK: Would you state your full name and spell17

your last name for the record.18

THE WITNESS: William J. Cogswell, C-o-g-s-w-e-l-l.19

WILLIAM J. COGSWELL20

having been duly sworn testifies as follows:  21

THE COURT: Mr. Buchbinder, yes.22

MR. BUCHBINDER: Yes, Your Honor, we have a23

logistic’s issue in this case.  We have an initial debtor24

interview scheduled at the Office of the U.S. Trustee at 125
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o’clock, and we have a 341 hearing that’s scheduled for 21

o’clock.  I just want to make the Court aware of that.2

THE COURT: Well, I have to leave the bench at 1:303

for a 2 o’clock meeting.  So, let’s break at 1 for the IDI,4

and we’ll reconvene - We can reconvene at 3 if we’re not5

done.  We’ll break at 1 and reconvene at 3.6

MR. RICHMAN: Hopefully, or maybe we’ll be finished.7

THE COURT: Or maybe we’ll be finished.8

DIRECT EXAMINATION9

BY MR. RICHMAN:10

Q.  Good afternoon, Mr. Cogswell.11

A.  Good afternoon.12

Q.  Would you remind the Court again of your current13

position.14

Q.  I’m the president of Diamond Glass, Inc.15

THE COURT: Could you move your microphone a little16

closer or move you closer, either way.17

THE WITNESS: I will.  The last time I was screaming18

in it, so -19

THE COURT: Okay.  You can’t please us.  You know,20

we’ll just move the goalpost on you every time.21

THE WITNESS: That’s okay.  How’s that; okay?22

THE COURT: That’s fine, thank you.23

BY MR. RICHMAN:24

Q.  Did you - Who participated in the - along with Mr.25
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Victor, in the design of the incentive program?1

A.  Mr. Victor, myself, and Mr. Bunchalk.2

Q.  And what was your guidance to Mr. Victor about what you3

wanted to achieve?4

A.  Well, generally, you know, obviously not having been5

through a process like this, not knowing what to expect in6

going through a process like this, it was important to us to7

make sure that we had the full support and dedication, if you8

will, of all of the people that are most important to this9

process.  So, our challenge to Mr. Victor in terms of10

discussions of a program like this was to work with us on11

designing a program that would be appropriate criteria, has12

been well defined and tested, so to speak, during this kind13

of a process in the past, and simultaneously allowed for14

opportunities for us to benchmark and put in place15

appropriate criteria to achieve goals that would in the end16

essentially try to create the most value for the17

organization.18

Q.  Was that the only goal or were there other goals in19

designing this plan?20

A.  I’m not sure I’m following you.21

Q.  Well, you referred to goals of the incentive plan, and22

I’m asking you as president of the company, what other goals23

if any were there besides maximizing value that you see in24

wanting to have an incentive plan in place?25



Cogswell - Direct 68

A.  Well, I mean, from a company perspective, our employees1

are obviously the most important portion of our business and2

sustaining the relationships that we have with our customers,3

in order to be a going concern into the future, you know,4

frankly, as we sit here today, we don’t quite know yet who’s5

going to buy us, who’s going to own us, what that’s going to6

mean, and, you know, from our perspective, you know, we’ve7

got to do everything we possibly can or want to do everything8

we possibly can to create the most value so that there is9

obviously an interested party that we can continue to be a10

going concern. 11

Q.  Did you determine who the participants in the program12

should be?13

A.  Yes.14

Q.  How did you make that determination?  What were your15

criteria?16

A.  Basically looked at the folks that we considered to be17

most critical to simultaneously helping us continue doing18

business as normal and at the same time critical to making19

sure that we get through the Chapter 11 process and also the20

process by which we’re attempting to sell the organization.21

Q.  Now, there’s already been testimony that you and Mr.22

Bunchalk are participants in the program.  That’s correct;23

isn’t it?24

A.  That’s correct.25
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Q.  Tell us how your job responsibilities have changed, if at1

all, since the case was filed on April 1st.2

A.  Wow, what hasn’t changed?  You know, obviously coming3

into this you think you know what may be needed and expected4

but obviously until you get into it, you don’t really know5

for sure.  I spend literally, along with many other people,6

many, many hours every day literally from 7 or 7:30 in the7

morning till typically 7 or 7:30 at night, but then beyond8

that in email traffic and doing other work, so, you know, at9

this point in time, I’m spending unfortunately less time in10

terms of running the day-to-day parts of the business that I11

would like to be because I’m so consumed by the Chapter 1112

process and most recently the process by which we’re13

attempting to sell the company through due diligence14

requests, management meetings.  The next several weeks are15

consumed literally with preparation of the due diligence16

requests, management meetings, discussions with potential17

buyers, as well as the kinds of things that we’re doing here18

today while at the same time, obviously, trying to continue19

to keep our employees in place, our customers in place, the20

service, you know, at the level that it needs to be at so21

that we continue to keep the business going in a positive22

direction.23

Q.  Are you working on weekends too?24

A.  Yes, unfortunately.25
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Q.  A substantial amount of time on the weekends?1

A.  I spend a good amount of time on the weekends, yes,2

around this, there’s no question about it.3

Q.  What about the vice presidents who are covered by the4

participant - who are participants in the program, how have5

their job responsibilities changed, if at all, since the6

filing?7

A.  They have changed as well.  They are - There’s probably8

more of a balance for them between performing their daily9

activities from a traditional company perspective and being10

involved in this, but pretty much every one of the people on11

that list, especially as you look at the VP level in the12

organization is included and involved in the preparation of a13

lot of the information that came as a part of the Chapter 1114

filing and also the due diligence requests because you’ve got15

to realize, as Mr. Victor testified, the requests are not16

simply, Please provide us your financials, or Please provide17

us a little bit more in depth on this, that, or the other18

thing.  Literally, the people that are looking at our company19

are asking us to delve into and prepare information on every20

single aspect of our company which requires obviously those21

people that head up those responsibilities and have22

responsibility for oversight of those responsibilities to be23

involved in preparing that information for a potential buyer.24

Q.  And how have the job responsibilities of the regional25
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mangers in the program changed since April 1?1

A.  You know, in my mind, the field organization and the2

regional management group, the people that oversee3

geographically across the country, our sales and our4

operations, the servicing that we provide to our customers5

are extremely critical to our organization.  As I testified6

last time in court, our business is very much a serve them7

now, customer-relationship built business, and without making8

sure that we have continuation of the relationships that have9

been built over the course of time, the capabilities to10

service those customers, our business goes backwards very11

quickly, and the regional management group really at this12

point in time has a significant twofold responsibility. 13

Number one, we’re relying on them more heavily in today’s14

world to literally manage what’s going on day in and day out15

in the field organization in terms of servicing our customers16

without as much guidance as maybe had been there before, as a17

result of other people being involved in so many other18

things, and simultaneously with that, they’re very involved19

in this process.  I mean, this is all new to us and a lot of20

folks in the courtroom and people that are in this industry21

may understand the whole Chapter 11 bankruptcy potential22

asset sale process very well, but we’re talking about an23

organization that has been an entity for a number of years24

and all of a sudden now we’re faced with the prospect of25
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selling our company in 30 days, not knowing for sure who may1

or may not buy that company, and the regional management2

group is charged with the responsibility of making sure3

there’s proper communication with the thousand people or so4

that we have in the field, making sure that they’re there to5

answer questions, making sure that simultaneously with that6

in terms of educating them on the process of what’s going on,7

making sure that we continue to try to do all the things that8

we need to be doing in order to make sure the business9

continues to operate the way it’s supposed to be operating.10

Q.  As the president of the company, do you have an opinion11

on what could happen to the company if this program is not12

approved?13

A.  I can’t sit here and tell you definitively what may or14

may not happen.  I can tell you that in discussions about the15

filing, which we obviously did a day or so before the actual16

filing on April 1st, and discussions around the asset sale of17

a piece of this, the 363 process, we discussed with this18

group of folks the prospects of filing this motion and19

putting in place a program that would create incentives for20

the group that we’re talking about based on certain hurdles21

and metrics that have been established as part of the filing. 22

That made them feel more comfortable, obviously, at that23

time.  24

Q.  And did you discuss and review the program that Mr.25
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Victor prepared before it was filed with the Court and with1

the motion?2

A.  No, we didn’t discuss any of the specifics at all.   We3

talked generally about the fact that - Well, we didn’t4

discuss - We discussed - The motion was filed the first day,5

basically, so we discussed the fact that the motion was filed6

when it was filed.  We didn’t discuss any of the metrics7

until after it was actually produced in the court -8

Q.  I meant - it sounds like you’re answering in respect of9

your discussions with the group that’s covered by the plan.10

A.  Right.11

Q.  And I apologize, my question must have been confusing.  I12

meant did you personally discuss the performance criteria13

with Mr. Victor before the plan was filed.14

A.  Yes, yes.15

Q.  And what was your judgment about the plan and the16

criteria at the time that it filed?17

A.  I thought it was very fair, you know.  Mr. Victor did18

quite a bit of research prior to us sitting down and talking19

about the creation of the plan.  You know, again, obviously,20

we had not been through this process before, so we didn’t21

understand exactly how you construct a plan like this, and22

what metrics need to be involved, but as we sat down and23

worked through it and Mr. Victor suggested all the various24

criteria that are part of the plan now, you know, and through25
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discussion obviously, you know, we came to the end result of1

the four criteria, which we think are very meaningful to the2

end result if you will of building value in the organization3

and, you know, we suggested that we put the most emphases on4

those things that we truly do have in our minds, in our5

organization’s minds, the most opportunity to influence which 6

ultimately at the end of the day is trying to create the most7

value for the enterprise and leave as much behind as8

possible.9

MR. RICHMAN: One second, please.  I have no further10

questions at this time, Your Honor.11

THE COURT: Cross?12

MR. CARROLL: I have no questions, Your Honor.13

THE COURT: Mr. Buchbinder?14

MR. BUCHBINDER: Very briefly, Your Honor.15

CROSS-EXAMINATION16

BY MR. BUCHBINDER:17

Q.   Mr. Cogswell, are you aware that any of the senior vice18

presidents or senior management affected by the plan have19

received any job offers to work for any other third party20

since the filing?21

A.  I am not aware.22

Q.  With respect to yourself, if the Court were to approve23

this program and all of the various metrics as they’re put24

were to be met, you would earn approximately 75 percent of25
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your annual salaries; is that correct?1

A.  That’s correct.2

Q.  And that’s in addition to your regular salary; is that3

correct, sir?4

A.  That’s correct.5

MR. BUCHBINDER: I have no further questions, Your6

Honor.  7

THE COURT: Thank you.  Redirect?8

MR. RICHMAN: No, Your Honor.9

THE COURT: All right.  Sir, you may step down,10

thank you.  Any other witnesses, Mr. Richman?11

MR. RICHMAN: No other witnesses, Your Honor, but I12

would ask that we continue to have as part of this record the13

record that we made at the first day hearings as well because14

I think that that also contains relevant information already15

before the Court about the nature of the business as a whole.16

THE COURT: Any objection?17

MR. CARROLL: No, Your Honor, I don’t have an18

objection.  I would like to offer into evidence Exhibit 119

which I presented to the witness.20

THE COURT: Right.  The Court will take judicial21

notice and without objection and consider the record of the22

previous hearing.  Any objection to the admission of23

Committee’s Exhibit 1?24

MR. RICHMAN: No, Your Honor, but it reminds me that25
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I probably should have the Court mark as Debtors’ Exhibit 11

the chart that we handed up since that does reflect changes2

to the program since the motion that we filed, as well as3

some clarifying remarks that I made on the record about4

changes we would make to the way the plan is described that5

go to some of the questions that were asked about discretion.6

THE COURT: All right.  Committee Exhibit 1 is7

admitted without evidence.  The chart’s been marked as8

Debtors’ Exhibit 1.  Any objection to its admission in9

evidence?10

MR. CARROLL: No objections.11

THE COURT: All right, it’s admitted without12

objection.  Do you have the list of participants?13

MR. RICHMAN: Would Your Honor like to examine that14

in camera?15

THE COURT: Yes, well, any objection to the Court16

looking at that list?17

MR. CARROLL: No objection, Your Honor, but I would18

also just add a me too.  As counsel for the Committee I would19

like an opportunity to examine the list.20

MR. RICHMAN: What I would suggest, there were two21

documents, and I’m just going to identify them for the record22

so it’s clear what I’m giving Your Honor, and I would ask23

that - and I will share them with Committee counsel under a24

confidentiality agreement we already have which provides25
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advisor’s eyes only so it won’t be shared with Committee1

members.  One document identifies by name, by title, and by2

tier.  You remember in my opening I said that there were3

three classes, all of the participants in the plan, and the4

second document identifies those same persons and also gives5

their annual salary so that one could figure out the6

calculations and so if I may approach, I will hand these to7

Your Honor for in camera inspection.8

THE COURT: Right.  What I’m going to do is mark9

these as Exhibits 2 and 3 for the debtor and admit them into10

evidence under seal, if that’s acceptable.11

MR. RICHMAN: That is, Your Honor, thank you.12

THE COURT: All right.13

MR. RICHMAN: And this is the same information that14

we furnished to the Office of the United States Trustee also15

under confidentiality.16

THE COURT: All right.  Did we have evidence - I’m17

sorry, I think we some of it, but did we have evidence for18

the percentage payoff for each tier or just one?19

MR. RICHMAN: We had my statement of the payout on20

each of the tiers.  We didn’t have a witness -21

THE COURT: You didn’t link them up, and I know Mr.22

Victor went through under cross at least - maybe it was Mr.23

Cogswell, at least one, which was the senior level.24

MR. RICHMAN: Well, I can recall Mr. Cogswell to -25
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THE COURT: Well, if you’ll make a representation,1

I’m sure it won’t be objected to.2

MR. RICHMAN: Yeah, the tier one employees are those3

who are entitled to -4

THE COURT: Seventy-five.5

MR. RICHMAN: - 75 percent.6

THE COURT: Tier two in the middle.7

MR. RICHMAN: Tier two is 30 percent, and tier three8

is 15 percent.9

THE COURT: That’s what I thought but - okay.  Ten;10

right?  Seventy-five, 30, 10?  Did I get it wrong?11

MR. RICHMAN: It’s 75, 30, and 15.12

THE COURT: Fifteen, thank you.  Okay.  All right,13

Debtors’ Exhibit 2 and 3 are admitted under seal as14

containing confidential information entitled to protection15

under the Bankruptcy Code.  Any further evidence?16

MR. RICHMAN: No further evidence, Your Honor.17

THE COURT: All right.  Debtors rest.  Any evidence18

by the Committee or Mr. Buchbinder?19

MR. CARROLL: No, Your Honor.20

MR. BUCHBINDER: No, Your Honor.21

THE COURT: All right that will close the22

evidentiary record.  I’ll hear argument.23

MR. RICHMAN: Perhaps to try to streamline it, I24

would ask for the right to respond after hearing the25
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Committee and the Trustee in argument.1

THE COURT: Very well.  We can push this IBI back a2

little bit, can’t we?  Okay.3

MR. CARROLL: Your Honor, I’ll try to be as succinct4

as possible.  The criteria is that such a program has to be5

justified under the facts and circumstances of the case.  The6

testimony that I heard was basically that a Chapter 117

process is an onerous process.  It is.  No doubt about it. 8

Sale of substantially all the assets as a going concern and9

the due diligence associated with that is an onerous process10

and a time consuming process, no doubt about it, but there’s11

nothing under the facts and circumstances of the case as12

presented which meet the criteria under 503(c)(3).  There’s13

nothing distinguishing under the facts and circumstances of14

this case that would warrant it.  Now, beyond that, I think15

it is relatively unique in that you have a stalking horse16

that’s already in place.  There are certain provisions under17

the APA that basically will inure to funds flowing to the18

unsecured creditors and the only thing that has to be done19

here is that they hold onto the sale, which happens all the20

time, and they’re entitled to these incentive benefits. 21

There’s nothing about the facts and circumstances of this22

case which are unique, and if this record justifies it, then23

basically in every case that comes before this Court there24

would be entitlement to an employee incentive plan, and I25
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don’t think that’s what the law is.  I think it has to be1

actual and necessary.  There’s been no evidence that anyone2

indicated they were going to leave.  There’s been no3

testimony that anyone had other job offers.  There’s no4

testimony that the employees are not working at their utmost. 5

They’re being paid to do a job, and they’re doing that job,6

and I admire them for that, however, that doesn’t entitle7

them to an incentive program.8

THE COURT: Okay.  Mr. Buchbinder.9

MR. BUCHBINDER: Yes, Your Honor, I’ll try to be as10

brief as possible as well.  When I began my initial comment11

and my opening statement was there had been no record at all. 12

There is certainly some record now.  I’d like to focus in a13

little bit more.  With respect to what I’ll call the first14

and fourth tier of the proposed program, the sales component15

and the confirmation component, those two components of this16

plan appear to be nothing more than retention promises.  If17

you’re here when the sale closes you get X.  If you’re here18

when the plan is confirmed, you get X, but now we’ve heard19

this testimony that you don’t necessarily have to be there20

when the plan is confirmed.  You just have to have been there21

when the sale closed and if you go to work for the buyer, if22

the buyer’s Guggenheim, you still get your bonus at some23

future point in time.  How those elements benefit this estate24

truly puzzles me.  With respect to the senior management and25
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vice president package, who arguably we could consider them1

all as insiders, to the extent that the first and fourth2

component of this package is a retention package there has3
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MR. RICHMAN: Well, Your Honor, there is a unique1

fact in this case, and right off the bat, it elevates this2

case out of the realm of most of the other ones where these3

programs have been approved and it shows that we’re even in4

compliance with 503(c)(1), and that is that no property of5

the estate is being transferred under this program.  This is6

being entirely funded by Guggenheim.  That is a unique fact. 7

Under the circumstances of this case, because Guggenheim8

finds it in its interests to assure the stability of the9

business and the platform, they are providing the funding,10

and the reason it’s going into escrow is to keep it out of11

the property of the estate.  So, one could even argue that12

these provisions shouldn’t be applicable in the way they13

ordinarily are because we’re really not asking the Court to14

evaluate what would be an administrative expense.  It’s15

really something different than that.  Nevertheless, we feel16

that we should have Court approval for the program, but that17

does make this case different.  Now, we did have testimony,18

very strong testimony, that this program was discussed with19

all the participants prior to the filing.  Now, in every case20

like this there’s no way to read people’s minds.  So, while21

we don’t have testimony that anybody has threatened to leave22

neither can we speculate about what’s in somebody’s mind when23

they have assurance from the top of the company that an24

incentive program is going to be sought to be approved and25
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that improves their morale and emboldens them and improves1

their performance, and we can speculate about whether that2

was material to those people or not, but ultimately, what3

we’re talking about is business judgment, and at the end of4

the day, the entire program is built upon the business5

judgment of the company as to what is needed to maintain the6

platform and the stability of the business and the value, the7

judgment of the head of the company as to who should be8

involved in that program based upon the advice of the9

investment banker and built around similar programs that have10

been approved because their incentive benefits have been11

recognized.  If this were purely a stay bonus, there wouldn’t12

be performance metrics, and while some of the performance13

metrics are easier to achieve than others, on the whole, the14

entirety of the program, which should be viewed as an entire15

whole, is a morale stability program to keep the very fragile16

relationships going to keep people believing that even if17

they end up managing themselves out of a job, that they will18

still receive an appropriate reward for good performance that19

goes beyond just staying.  Mr. Buchbinder has a couple of20

times indicated some concern about the fact that if21

Guggenheim is funding this plan that employees would be22

beholden to Guggenheim.  I don’t get that argument.  I don’t23

understand how anything here has any nexus or privity between24

Guggenheim and employees.  The money will be in an escrow.25
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The employees are working for the company.  The company is1

managing them for a whole host of other reasons.  I don’t see2

the appearance problem.  There’s certainly no testimony that3

an employee would suddenly feel that Guggenheim is their4

boss.  That may change if Guggenheim ends up being the5

purchaser, but right now, while that’s uncertain, Guggenheim6

has nothing to do with the day-to-day business of the company7

and nothing will change if the plan is funded by Guggenheim. 8

I think if you want to question benefit to the estate and9

both counsel questioned that, again, I think that that’s a10

question of whether the Committee or the Trustee is able to11

substitute their business judgment for that of the company,12

and whether somebody believes that there will be no effect13

whatsoever if this plan is not approved.  How can any of us14

take that responsibility?  The president of the company and15

the president’s investment advisor, the company’s investment16

advisor believes strongly and testified that there could be17

negative impacts if the plan is not improved.  Nobody knows18

exactly how negative it could be, but it could be negative,19

and they have a responsibility to protect against the decline20

and the value of the company and to assure that they can21

deliver a valuable going concern to a purchaser and to try to22

get competitive bidding and to try to deliver greater23

dividends to unsecured creditors, and when you look at all of24

those potential benefits and you try to calculate the dollars25
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of them, they so far outweigh the cost of this program, which1

isn’t even coming from the estate, that I don’t understand2

how anybody could credibly say that there is no benefit to3

the estate if this gets improved.  It’s a gamble.  We’re all4

trying to look into the future, but if I’m going to take my5

chances on what happens in the future, and I’m the debtor, I6

would prefer to be able to take my chances knowing that I7

have this program in place to improve, to solidify, to8

maximize the values rather than just taking the risk that9

it’s not there and if we disapprove the program and it’s not10

there, no one is benefitted.  No one, except for Guggenheim11

because they get to pay a little less for the company, and12

maybe the first bidder for whom the amount of money probably13

makes no difference.  So, there is benefit to the estate.  We14

have sound business judgment being exercised.  We do have15

unique facts here.  There’s no negative impact to unsecured16

creditors.  There’s only upside in doing that.  For all those17

reasons, Your Honor, the plan should be approved.18

THE COURT: All right.  Thank you.  Do you have19

anything further, Mr. Carroll.20

MR. CARROLL: No, Your Honor.21

THE COURT: You looked like you were getting up. 22

No, all right, well, I’m ready to rule.  I want to take one23

threshold point first, which Mr Richman raised, which is this24

concept that somehow 503(c) is not applicable because we’re25
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not dealing with property of the estate, we’re escrowing1

money, we’re, you know, trying to - we’re end-running around2

property of the estate for whatever, you know, I’m not being3

pejorative, it is what it is.  I disagree.  I think 503(c) is4

applicable.  That section starts out, “Notwithstanding5

subsection (b) there shall neither be allowed nor paid,” and6

then it goes through the different criteria.  I think the7

focus on paid is important.  I think that paying people in8

connection with their employment by the debtors is by its9

nature an administrative expense of the debtors’ estate, and10

I think the prohibition of 503(c) is broader then just paid11

by the debtors’ estate.  Says, “Shall neither be allowed nor12

paid”, period.  So think at least in the context of this13

case, even though it’s being paid and technically it’s a14

wind-down budget that’s being funded by the buyer.  Now how15

exactly that works out in connection with a true escrow16

agreement or whether it’s simply going to be a separate17

account which wouldn’t be a true escrow or whether it was18

going to sit at debtors’ counsel’s IOLTA account or what have19

you, it’s unclear to me, and I am not ruling one way or the20

other on whether it is property of the debtors’ estate.  I21

think that can frankly await either the sale or maybe even22

confirmation of a plan when we have a greater idea as to what23

it is.  Either way, it’s subject to the Court’s approval, and24

I think it’s subject to the limitations of 503(c).  All25
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right, so where does that leave us?  There is no question1

that I think it’s acknowledged by the debtors that it’s2

outside the ordinary course of business.  So, unless3

503(c)(1) - well, then we get to the issue of even if it’s4

outside the ordinary course of business, this Court has5

previously ruled in the Nelson Neutraceutical’s opinion that6

if it were outside the ordinary course of business, 503(c)(1)7

would still act as a limitation.  So, inside or outside the8

ordinary course of business, if you have a retention plan for9

the benefit of insiders, and for today’s purposes that would10

include the vice presidents, the Court cannot approve it11

unless the criteria of 503(c)(1) are met if it is primarily12

retentive.  I don’t think there’s a sufficient factual record13

to justify payment under 503(c)(1).  If it’s under 503(c)(3)14

the Court cannot approve it unless it’s justified by the15

facts and circumstances of the case regardless of whether16

it’s a retentive or incentive program at least in connection17

with the non-insiders.  It can be purely retentive for the18

non-insiders under 503(c)(3), which is a very small piece of19

this overall case.  So there’s sort of two issues the Court20

has to decide.  One, is it primarily retentive or not?  Two,21

regardless, is it justified under 363 as being outside the22

ordinary course of the business?  I’ll take the last piece23

first.  I think the facts clearly establish that the program24

is a reasonable exercise of the debtors’ business judgment. 25
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I’m not sure, frankly, that I agree with Mr. Carroll’s1

comment that every Chapter 11 doesn’t deserve an incentive2

plan and that somehow it has to be unique, and that sort of3

goes to the (c)(3) issue, but in any event, whether it’s, you4

know, needs to be a reasonable justification of the debtors’5

business judgment or whether it needs to be justified by the6

facts and circumstances, or whether it needs to be an actual7

and necessary expense of the debtors’ estate, whatever8

criteria is applicable, I think the evidentiary record in9

this case is met, and the debtors have satisfied that.  The10

testimony of Mr. Cogswell and Mr. Victor clearly establish11

the motivational aspects of the program.  The program is tied12

and it’s important to get to the certain benchmarks.  The13

testimony is clearly - it establishes that all the covered14

employees are performing above and beyond their normal job15

responsibilities, some extraordinarily so.  I don’t think16

that’s particularly surprising.  Chapter 11 is an expensive17

process for the professionals because we know how much work18

they have to do, and it’s an expensive and time consuming19

process for management.  That is the nature of Chapter 11,20

and that’s, you know, I take issue with Mr. Carroll’s sort of21

blanket statement that every Chapter 11 doesn’t deserve some22

sort of incentive management program.  Certainly not every23

case can afford it, and some cases maybe call out for it more24

than others.  A business like this where we’re talking about25



89

a very volatile, competitive, people-intensive business is1

really a poster child for a management incentive program,2

especially in a sales process where people are working3

themselves out of a job.  All right, so let’s deal with the4

retentive effect.  I don’t think that - I kind of rethought5

this issue, frankly, even if the only thing management has to6

do and the covered employees have to do is hold this company7

together for the stalking horse bidder to close, I don’t find8

that in and of itself primarily retentive.  I have another9

case where management and the professionals worked their10

tails off for three months to hold the case together to get11

the stalking horse bid in place, and it all fell apart, and12

that case is going to convert on Friday.  It’s a big case.  A13

lot of people are going to lose their jobs.  That can happen. 14

Stalking horse cases, stalking horse bidders walk away. 15

There are material adverse changes that occur.  This is not a 16

healthy economy, and the pressures are intense.  I expect17

that the price of raw materials is rising for the debtors,18

without knowing, I’m speculating, so I won’t rely on that in19

making my ruling, but I don’t find that just getting to a20

plan or just getting to a closing by a stalking horse bidder21

in and of itself is retentive.  I think there’s a lot that22

can go wrong.  So I don’t find the fact that some of the23

elements deal with simply getting the closing of a stalking24

horse bid or simply getting a plan confirmed to be in and of25
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themselves retentive.  Okay, all that said, I do have one1

issue - two issues, that I think really go to providing in2

effect a retention plan for insiders that are troubling, and3

that has to do with the plan as drafted allows for payments4

to employees for - I’m sorry.  If the criteria that gives5

rise to the payment occurs prior to an employee retiring,6

dying, resigning, or being terminated for cause, that the7

payment would be after that occurred, nonetheless, this plan8

would allow for that payment to be made.  Also, if someone9

were to be terminated without cause, an entitlement could in10

effect spring later such as plan confirmation or payment to11

the unsecureds, that has after that - that criteria aren’t12

satisfied until after that person has left the company13

voluntarily or for whatever reason, and yet they get a14

payment.  I don’t see that connection.  I don’t know if it’s15

a retentive effect or simply a causal connection but I’m16

troubled by that, and I won’t approve that as drafted.  What17

I will approve is a plan that’s modified to make it clear18

that there’s no payment after an employee retires, dies,19

resigns, or is terminated for cause, whether or not that20

payment was earned previously.  So, in other words, on the21

date you leave the company because you retire, die, resign,22

or terminate for cause, no further payments, period.  Also,23

no entitlement for any payment where that payment in effect24

vests after the employee leaves the employment for whatever25
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reason.  So, if you are terminated without cause, downsizing,1

and the company later confirms a plan or later closes an2

asset sale or later the DIP is done or later unsecureds are3

given at least a million dollars or $500,000 in the aggregate4

payment, you don’t get paid.  I’m reserving a decision,5

because I don’t think I need to get there, and maybe I’ll6

have to get there in the asset sale, but I’m reserving a7

decision on the nature of this corpus that’s being provided8

to pay these claims, whether it is property of the estate,9

whether it should be generally available for all10

administrative claims, I don’t think I need to make that11

decision.  I’m troubled by that, and I think I’m going to12

have to consider it carefully, but I don’t think the plan13

rises or falls on it.  It is possible that the Court will14

ultimately rule that it is generally available for15

administrative creditors in the event that there is an16

administrative insolvency.  That is a risk that the plan17

participants are simply going to have to carry and to a18

certain extent, frankly, it’s a further motivation to get to19

a place where the case will not be administratively20

insolvent.  Now, I know the general, you know, the managers21

don’t have a lot of control over that, that really goes to22

the CFO and CEO.  Although they get the bulk of the dollar23

amounts here, in any event are going to go to the most senior24

executives which of course is appropriate because they’re25
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doing the bulk of the work, at least on a management side. 1

Okay?  So with those changes, I’ll overrule the objections of2

the Office of the U.S. Trustee and the Committee, and I’ll3

approve the plan as modified by the Court’s oral ruling.  Any4

questions?  5

MR. RICHMAN: Thank you, Your Honor.  I hope we6

won’t have to litigate that last two -7

THE COURT: I hope - yeah, all right.  I’ll just8

await an order under certification of counsel?9

MR. RICHMAN: Yes, Your Honor.10

THE COURT: All right.  Anything further for today?11

MR. RICHMAN: That’s all, Your Honor, thank you.12

THE COURT: Good.  We made it with seven minutes to13

spare.  That’s fine, thank you.  Hearing is adjourned.14

MR. CARROLL: Thank you, Your Honor.15

(Whereupon at 12:52 p.m., the hearing in this16

matter was concluded for this date.)17

I, Elaine M. Ryan, approved transcriber for the18

United States Courts, certify that the foregoing is a correct19

transcript from the electronic sound recording of the20

proceedings in the above-entitled matter.21

22

/s/ Elaine M. Ryan   May 16, 200823
Elaine M. Ryan
2801 Faulkland Road
Wilmington, DE 19808
(302) 683-0221
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